

AXIS

Assessment of Cross(X)-sectoral climate Impacts and pathways for Sustainable transformation

Joint Call for Proposals

Submission deadline pre-registrations: 18 June 2018, 17:00 CEST Submission deadline full proposals: 8 October 2018, 17:00 CEST



Table of Contents

1.	Background	
2.	INTRODUCTION	
3.	Scope	
4.	GUIDELINES FOR APPLICANTS	9
	Who can apply?	9
	Common proposal requirements	
	Submitting a proposal	10
5.		
	Evaluation Process	11
6.	Expected Timeline	
7.		
8.	Information and Contacts	
9.	ANNEXES	
	National Annexes	14
	(incl. National Contact Points)	14
	Pre-Registration Form	14
	Pre-Registration Form Instructions	
	Full Proposal Form	
	Full Proposal Form Instructions	14
	(will be made available after closure of the pre-registration phase)	14



1. Background

The ERA-NET AXIS is a network of 10 funding organisations from 9 European countries that has been created to promote cross-boundary, cross-community research with the overall goal to improve coherence, integration and robustness of climate impact research and connect it to societal needs. To this effect, AXIS aims to bring together international expertise in the areas of this Call for Proposals and work on overcoming boundaries between science communities through inter- or transdisciplinary research projects.

JPI Climate

Most funding partners are members of the Joint Programming Initiative **JPI Climate** ("Connecting Climate Knowledge for Europe", <u>www.jpi-climate.eu</u>). JPI Climate is a collaboration of 16 European countries coordinating their programme development in climate research to inform and enable the transition to a low emission, climate resilient economy, society and environment in line with Europe's long-term climate policy objectives.

The present joint call will be funded by AXIS partners with an indicative budget of 15 - 17 Mio. \in to support research projects of a duration of three years. AXIS is co-funded as an ERA-NET Co-fund action under the European Union's Horizon 2020 Framework Program (Grant Agreement number 776608). The anticipated national and regional contributions available from each funding agency are listed in Chapter 7. Updates may be published on the AXIS webpage www.jpi-climate.eu/AXIS.

AXIS is a successor of the ERA-NET on "European Research Area for Climate Services" (ERA4CS). Both are part of the efforts of JPI Climate to contribute to the implementation of the **European Roadmap for Climate Services** (see <u>https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/news/european-research-and-innovation-roadmap-climate-services</u>), in particular by improving "Integration of physical and socioeconomic data and information" (Challenge 3, Activity 3.1a) and "establishing confidence in, and the role of uncertainty in climate services and decision-support systems" (Challenge 3, Activity 3.1c).

2. Introduction

The recently established UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) as well as the Paris Agreement (PA) adopted by the UNFCCC Conference of the Parties' (COP) create the authoritative international policy framework for a global transition to sustainability. The Paris Agreement has set ambitious goals to this end. Decisions to reach these goals will have to consider the implications of various mitigation and adaptation options along with impacts of the physical climate at different stabilization levels of greenhouse gas concentrations. Consequently, the demand for more robust information on the integrated consequences of different possible pathways is high.

The objective of this Joint Transnational Call is to broaden the knowledge base that helps guiding societies in their transition to sustainability, in particular through an integrated understanding of social, political and environmental impacts and risks associated with climate change. It aims to contribute to more accurate estimations and better quantified uncertainties with respect to what climate impacts are to be expected for different plausible socio-economic scenarios and for various carbon emission futures and corresponding warming levels. Ultimately, this research shall increase the potential to use climate impact data in **operational climate services** (e.g. the Copernicus Climate Change Service, C3S) and support adaptation policies to reduce vulnerabilities and increase resilience in future.





3. Scope 3.1 The research approach

AXIS seeks to enhance collaboration across science communities and promote integration of knowledge of a wide range of research disciplines contributing to the understanding of climate change and its impacts on natural systems and society. Integration is a core objective, especially with regard to bridging gaps and crossing boundaries between different bio-physical impact categories or systems, here called "sectors" (see footnote in Chapter 3.2) and between natural and social sciences as well as humanities working on climate change impacts.

Stakeholder approach

Research on climate impacts should be structurally driven by the demands of decision-makers and stakeholders, and not primarily by model development. At the same time, it needs to attend to the fundamental knowledge gaps that prevent progress in integrated analysis of risks and options associated with climate change impacts and adaptation. Essential components of the proposed projects should therefore be the establishment of potential long-term partnerships, leveraging of existing knowledge networks and project codesign between researchers and stakeholders. Stakeholders of the projects could be regional to national actors from public or private domains, such as regional and national disaster management agencies, national adaptation planners, finance, and insurance sectors. In some instances, also researchers with e. g. placebased, applied approaches could be stakeholders as downstream users of e. g. model results generated on a higher level. In the case of multi-sectoral projects, representatives of various sectors or disciplines are important users of the (intermediate) project results.

In essence, all projects are expected to give due consideration to an adequate stakeholder involvement in each phase of their projects and give due justification of their approach chosen. Given the variety of topics and degree of maturity of respective research fields the appropriate level of stakeholder engagement for each phase of the project may vary strongly. Ultimately, it should efficiently serve the goal to support the development of climate services and guide sustainable transformation in Europe.

Projects should also demonstrate a significant **added-value** generated **through the international collaboration**. This could be, for instance, by generating results and methodologies which are transferable and applicable to large geographic, political or social realms.

Wherever possible, projects should build on and contribute to existing international frameworks, communitydriven networks or databases, such as but not limited to:

- the WCRP Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP), <u>www.wcrp-climate.org/wgcm-cmip</u>, in particular taking into account considerations of the Vulnerability, Impacts, Adaptation and Climate Services Advisory Board (VIACS), a contribution to CMIP6
- Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment (WCRP CORDEX), cordex.org
- Global Framework for Climate Services (GFCS), <u>www.gfcs-climate.org</u>
- Integrated Assessment Modeling Consortium (IAMC), <u>www.globalchange.umd.edu/iamc</u>
- The Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP), <u>www.isimip.org</u>
- Other relevant sectoral coordination frameworks, such as the Agricultural Model intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP), <u>www.agmip.org</u>.



• Other international frameworks, community-driven networks or databases in which the applicants are involved, whenever their relevance for the call is justified in the proposal.

An important link between the themes of this call and a connecting element between projects will be through the concept of **scenarios**, i.e. possible future developments of human economic and social activities in interaction with the climate system. The existence of and adherence to well-defined scenarios is an essential element to enable the integration of information produced in traditionally separated disciplinary fields, such as different impact domains or economic sectors. While supporting the implementation of the Paris Agreement will necessitate development and application of low emission scenarios, for worst case adaptation planning higher end emission scenarios may also be relevant. At the start of projects funded through this call a joint kick-off meeting will be held to enhance consistency and harmonisation between single projects. Applicants should be prepared to align their proposals in this regard.

Projects should build on and contribute to the established framework of **"Shared Socioeconomic Pathways" (SSP)**, which have been developed as a complement of the Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) scenarios that were previously used in the IPCC context. This combined scenario framework was initiated to facilitate the assessment of the effectiveness and trade-offs or co-benefits of different adaptation and mitigation options, taking into account both biogeophysical and socio-economic aspects.

Improved knowledge of uncertainties is paramount in order to address the challenges of climate change in risk-assessment frameworks. A treatment of uncertainty is therefore regarded as an essential element of proposals. Improved quantitative knowledge regarding different sources of uncertainties may need to be accompanied by qualitative information where quantification is largely infeasible.

Research in the addressed fields could have wide-ranging implications for regional or national decision making in the context of climate change mitigation and adaptation. Therefore, **transparency** about implicit or explicit value judgements and assumptions within the research approaches and tools is of great importance. To this end, projects are requested to provide research results and generated research data as free and accessible as possibly. A detailed **Data Management Plan** will need to be submitted at the full proposal stage. Furthermore, the use of **open source** tools or the opening of research codes in the process of the project - as an effective measure to increase transparency and credibility of the research results - is encouraged.

3.2 Thematic Priorities

The scope of this AXIS call is structured into three interlinked thematic priorities (themes):

- 1. Cross-sectoral and cross-scale climate change impact assessments
- 2. Integration of biophysical climate change impacts estimates with economic models
- 3. Developing pathways to achieve the long-term objectives of the Paris Agreement, taking into account interactions with SDGs closely linked to SDG 13 ("climate action")

Interrelation of Thematic Priorities

Changing lifestyles and consumption patterns contribute in a multidimensional manner to social, economic and environmental dynamics at various scales from local to global. Hence, the dynamics of biophysical systems



need to be seen as functionally coupled to social or economic systems, just as natural dynamics constitute constraining factors for socio-economic developments.

It therefore becomes imperative to better understand these many interrelations over different spatial and temporal scales and across sectors. None of the subsystems can be studied in isolation any longer. Consequently, also the themes of this call should not be considered as separate but as overlapping areas of research. Projects may thus cover aspects of more than one theme in an integrative way. If only Theme 1 or 2 are addressed they are expected to pursue the research in these domains with the perspective to develop information and practical knowledge that would ultimately support the goals of Theme 3. Vice-versa, projects centred on Theme 3 shall demonstrate that they are strongly founded in the state-of-the-art of research related to Themes 1 and 2.

Theme 1: Cross-sectoral and cross-scale climate change impact assessments

In order to inform upcoming mitigation and adaptation decisions to implement the Paris Agreement, improved knowledge of the magnitude and patterns of risk and opportunities of climate change across regions and multiple sectors is needed.

Proposals should significantly contribute to increasing the quality, credibility and usability of climate impact models¹ for climate services to support adaptation and mitigation decisions and for guiding sustainable transformation.

Projects in this theme shall include the consideration of cross-sectoral interdependencies or contribute to multi-sectoral coordination efforts, such as, but not limited to ISIMIP. Interactions between traditionally separated disciplines and/or sectors shall be fostered through the use, development or enhancement of standard-ized input data and scenario design as far as possible.

Projects may address one or several of the following science questions:

- How does climate change under specified socio-economic conditions affect different sectors² and the interdependencies between them?
- Through which adaption measures can the associated risks be best avoided?
- In what ways are cross-sectoral interactions important in determining effective responses to global change?
- Where and how are specific mitigation and adaptation options linked with other societal developments and how does this affect the resilience of the respective societies?

¹Here, with "climate impact models" (or "impact models") we refer to models that translate physical and meteorological/climatological changes projected by Earth System Models into consequences in biological/ecological and/or humanmanaged systems, which in turn affect socio-economic systems.

²"Sectors" in the context of Theme 1 refer to impact categories or domains (systems), such as, but not limited to agriculture, forestry, hydrology, human health (e.g. vector-borne diseases, heat-related mortality), biomes / biodiversity, permafrost, fisheries and marine ecosystems, coastal infrastructure, energy supply and demand.



 Where and under which scenario assumptions do accumulated impacts exceed the limits of adaptation?

Topics may include but are not limited to:

- Consideration and evaluation of cross-sectoral interdependencies, and possible aggregation effects
- Improving process representation through cross-scale comparisons (e.g. regional vs. global)
- Evaluation of model uncertainty e.g. through multi-model and/or model-observation comparisons and the assessment of observation data needs
- Adequate reflection of learning, structural change, historical transitions or behavioural aspects (such as through land use management or migration) in impact models to represent human reactions (adaptation) in the future
- Analyses of reasons for model spread through targeted model experiments and subsequent refinement of process representation.

Theme 2: Integration of biophysical climate change impacts estimates with economic models

Climate impact models provide a wealth of spatially resolved information. Through consistent multi-model exercises statistical datasets that represent uncertainties are emerging. Yet current economic models often only consider very aggregate information to represent climate change impacts on welfare, distributional effects or economic activity. Recent advances and project support under Theme 1 provide new opportunities to significantly improve the representation of climate impacts in economic models.

Projects under this theme should address one of following priority topics:

- 1. Improved translation of biophysical impacts into macro-economic consequences, including conceptual advances to use impact information and/or to deal with related uncertainties.
- 2. Assessment of distributional and political economy implications of climate impacts.
- 3. Integrating economics of climate impacts, adaptation and mitigation to guide climate resilient low carbon strategies (link to Theme 3).

Proposals under this theme shall involve partners from multiple research communities - the climate change, empirical economics and/or integrated assessment modelling and the bio-physical impact research community. Proposals may include, but are not limited to one or more of the following elements:

- Representation of adequate spatial and temporal scales to sufficiently capture the biophysical and economic impacts,
- Improved understanding and estimates of past and present market and especially non-market impacts and effects on long-term economic growth and distributional effects,
- Consideration of socio-economic aspects and framings as key features and drivers of the models,
- Improved consideration of extreme events, as well as market and non-market effects of climate change in under-studied impact categories,



- Analysis of propagation of uncertainty in risk assessment frameworks,
- Cumulating effects of multiple impact types and effects on long-term economic growth and distributional of wealth.

Theme 3 - Developing pathways to achieve the long-term objectives of the Paris Agreement, taking into account interactions with SDGs closely linked to SDG 13 ("climate action")

The Paris Agreement calls to consider climate change responses "in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty" (e.g. Art. 2, 1.). Thus, mitigation and adaptation decisions will also have to consider potential effects on other UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), in addition to Goal number 13 on "Climate action" and have to be linked to e. g. other international policy regimes like the 2015 Sendai Framework on disaster risk reduction or the UN Habitat Urban Agenda.

Consequently, this theme focusses on the support of robust decision making under conditions of uncertainty and complexity through methodologies and analytical tools co-developed between science and practice. The tools should provide relevant climate information for decision making in an optimal way and ultimately enable to also take into account other decision factors than climate change. Ideally, the tools should be co-designed in an iterative learning process involving scientists and users. In this context, learning also needs to include building capacity on what to expect from a model and how to interpret model output.

Proposals should address one or more of the following questions:

- 1. In the context of the SDGs, what are the possible approaches and strategies to develop mitigation and adaptation pathways taking into account their impacts to achieve the long-term objectives in the Paris Agreement (Art. 2)?
- 2. What are the technological, socio-economic, financial, legal and political implications of moving from the long-term objectives (Art. 2) to short- and mid-term measures at various regional levels?
- 3. What are the adaptation and resilience pathways that are consistent and can be integrated with specific mitigation pathways?

Topics to be addressed may include, but are not limited to:

- Analyses of decision making processes (e. g. markets, governments, institutions, individuals), behavioral aspects (desirability, acceptance, legitimacy) as well as causes, opportunities, barriers and limits of change (change theory including psychology and sociology), incentives and disincentives including regulatory economic, suasive, self-management/regulation aspects.
- Development and testing of simple methods and tools for socio-economic assessment of integrated response options, including "soft" measures such as communication and mainstreaming of climate adaptation in non-climate policies.
- Multi-level governance framework (local to transnational) including analyses of barriers and enablers of transformation i. e. through regulatory frameworks, fiscal systems, organizational and institutional structures etc.



Proposals should take into account the full spectrum of Art. 2 of the Paris Agreement (temperature; adaptation and resilience; finance flows towards climate resilient development) and should consider mitigation as well as adaptation pathways. Theme 3 proposals strongly building on complex models should carefully consider implicit and explicit assumptions and investigate the feasibility or constraints in a real-world realisation.

4. Guidelines for Applicants

The following section informs about requirements that apply to all applicants. In addition, specific requirement of individual funders may apply. Please consult the National Annexes and the agency web links for further information. It is also highly recommended that applicants consult the respective National or Agency Contact Points (see National Annexes).

Who can apply?

This Call is open to all applicants located in countries covered by the 10 participating funding agencies who comply with the national eligibility criteria (see National Annexes), irrespective of their nationality. Namely, applicants from Austria, Belgium, Germany, France, Ireland, The Netherlands, Norway, Spain and Sweden are eligible. Each national/regional funding agency will provide funds directly to their eligible investigators in accordance with the respective agencies' rules and regulations. Funds provided by the European Commission will be utilized to maximize the number of international consortia being supported through this call.

In this Call applications for advanced multi-disciplinary projects of **small to medium size (0.3 - 2 million €)** are expected. Other funding requests are not excluded, but national restrictions have to be also met. Private sector participation is welcome if the participating national funding agency has suitable instruments (see National Annexes).

Cooperation with other countries and international organisations

Participation of project **partners from outside** the countries already participating in AXIS is possible and encouraged if funding is ensured by own resources (institutional in-kind or other funding).

International organisations (IO) may also be included as partner, but cannot be considered as one of the partners from at least three different countries participating in AXIS (see section 'Common proposal requirements'). Funding support to IOs is limited to 10% of the overall funding request of a proposal. A stronger commitment of resources of IOs above this limit is possible, but funding needs to be ensured otherwise. In this case a signed letter of commitment will be necessary at the full proposal stage. It is also mandatory that the IO is an eligible funding partner in at least one of the participating countries. Exceptions from these general rules may be decided by the funding agencies on a case by case basis. If you plan to include an international organisation please contact the National Contact Point of the host country or of the agency you are planning to request funding from.

Participation of partners from **low-income**, or **lower-middle-income economy (LIC/LMIC) according to the World Bank listings for LIC or LMIC**, who are highly beneficial to the proposals' goals, may be possible based on national funding regulations of an AXIS partner. Please consult the national annexes for more details.

Common proposal requirements

Proposals should address **one or several of the Call Themes**. They require eligible partners from **at least three different countries participating in AXIS** (see Table 1). If the Coordinator of a proposal is not eligible, the



entire proposal will not be further considered for the second stage of the evaluation (see Chapter 5). In order to be selected for funding all partners must be found eligible in the second stage.

All proposals shall demonstrate adequate **stakeholder engagement.** These aspects are reflected within selection criteria (see Chapter 5).

Applicants should also describe how information generated in the course of the project will be captured, stored and managed. For more details please refer to the JPI Climate Guidelines on Open Knowledge available at http://www.jpi-climate.eu/jpi-strategy/OpenAccessOpenKnowledge. Plans for long-term archiving and me-ta-description of data should be detailed, as should the communication and access plans.

Furthermore, consortia shall demonstrate how they take into account sustainability principles in research: i.e. consideration of projects' climate footprint and contributions to a climate-friendly research system, e.g. in terms of (virtual) meetings, travels and energy use. For more details please refer to the JPI Climate Guidance on climate-friendly climate research available at <u>http://www.jpi-climate.eu/jpi-strategy/climatefriendlyclimateresearch</u>).

Submitting a proposal

A two-step application procedure will be used in this call. Relevant proposal documents (in English, see Annexes) must be submitted electronically by the coordinator by uploading them on the electronic submission system (see link provided at <u>www.jpi-climate.eu/AXIS</u>) with the following **deadlines**:

- Pre-registration: 18 June, 2018, 17:00 CEST.
- > Full-Proposal: 8 October, 2018, 17:00 CEST.

The first (pre-registration) step is mandatory for entering the second stage. The information requested at this stage will be used to complete an eligibility check and help find appropriate reviewers for the evaluation of full proposals in the second step. Only eligible pre-registrations will be invited to submit full proposals. Applications which are selected for invitation to submit a full (step-two) proposal will be contacted early July 2018.

Proposals should strictly follow the guidelines given and follow the proposal templates. Further information on how to submit a pre-registration and a full proposal is available in the National Annexes. Note, that in some countries an additional national submission is required.

Programme activities

The funded projects are considered to form part of an international research programme for which joint activities will be organised, including a kick-off meeting at the beginning of the funding period, an interim project conference to promote the uptake of projects results and networking amongst projects and a final meeting to present and disseminate the project results at the end of the funding period. Participants of funded projects should participate in these joint activities. The costs for attendance to joint activities should be included in the budgets of the full proposals.

Project management and reporting



Each of the proposals that will be funded will be required to sign an internal project agreement prior to the start of the project (addressing internal organisation, IPR, settlement of disputes, etc.). Funded projects will be required to submit a mid-term report and a final report on both research progress and financial aspects using a common template. Some funding organisations may request additional specific reports.

5. Assessment

Evaluation Process

Evaluation will be made by an independent international Expert Panel (EP). It consists of experts from the scientific community and representatives of relevant stakeholder groups, if appropriate, covering the full range of topics within the scope of the AXIS Call for Proposals. To complement the expertise in the EP, additional external reviewers may be consulted as appropriate. At least 4 independent experts will evaluate each full proposal.

Evaluation Criteria

Evaluation criteria for the projects are based on the evaluation standards provided by the European Commission.

1. Excellence

- 1.1. Relevance to overall Call objectives and to the chosen Theme(s) of the Call
- 1.2. (Scientific) quality and innovativeness, contribution to knowledge, originality, progress beyond the state-of-the-art
- 1.3. Soundness of concept and objectives of project

2. Impact

- 2.1. Societal relevance and impacts (e.g., relevance for decision making, contributions to societal welfare and well-being, policy related or economic impact, capacity and community building, networking effects)
- 2.2. Added value of trans-national cooperation
- 2.3. Level of collaboration between different science communities (between various climate disciplines, biophysical impact sciences and economics; and between natural and social sciences)
- 2.4. Appropriateness of engagement of relevant stakeholders, awareness of stakeholder needs and transdisciplinary approach
- 2.5. Transparency of the implementation (including transparency of normative and non-normative assumptions) and conditions of accessibility of research results and tools ("open access", "open source")
- 2.6. Appropriateness of measures for the dissemination and/or exploitation of transnational projects results, and – if applicable - management of intellectual properties

3. Quality and efficiency of implementation

- 3.1. Quality and efficiency of the management structure and procedures, its organization and coordination, including the management and sharing of data
- 3.2. Appropriateness of conceptual approach
- 3.3. Quality and relevant experience of the individual participants, including inter-disciplinarity and in-



tegration potential within partnership

- 3.4. Quality of the consortium as a whole (including complementarity and representation of different disciplines)
- 3.5. Appropriateness of allocation and justification of the resources to be committed (budget, staff, equipment), project feasibility and work-plan

Scoring system

- 0 Not possible to evaluate / Fail
- 1 Poor
- 2 Fair
- 3 Good
- 4 Very Good
- 5 Excellent

The minimum threshold for each criterion is set at **3 out of 5 points**. Furthermore, the **sum of scores should be at least 10 points** (out of 15). Proposals not meeting these thresholds will not be ranked, and not be considered for funding.

Final selection will depend first on the overall score reached in the evaluation, second on funding availability. In case a proposal is selected for funding, a negotiation phase will be made with the relevant funding organisations to take into account recommendations, including budget aspects. Please note that no appeal can be brought to challenge the evaluation results or decisions of the AXIS funding agencies.

6. Expected Timeline

- Opening of the Call for Proposals: 9 April, 2018
- Deadline for pre-registrations: 18 June 2018, 17:00 CEST
- Invitation for full-proposals: Beginning of July, 2018
- Deadline for submission of full proposals: 8th October 2018, 17:00 CEST
- Communication of final results of the selection process: February 2019
- Earliest Start of Projects: 1st July 2019
- Latest Start of Projects: Mid September 2019

7. Funding

For this call a total amount of 10.5 to 12.3 M€ has been provisionally reserved by the participating funding organisations. The European Commission will also provide funding for the funded projects depending on the final total funding amount for research proposals by the participating funding organisations eligible for EC funding.

The indicative total budget for this call is thus of 15.7 to 17.5 M€.

Indicative budgets for each funding organisation are given below. Each participant in a funded project will be preferentially funded by his or her national/regional funding organisation(s) participating in the call. The additional funding provided by the EC for the funded project will be distributed through the H2020-eligible national/regional funding organisations.



Table 1: List of Commitments

Country	Funding Agency (Acronym)	Indicative Budget (not incl. EU-top up)	Maximum requested budget per project/partner**
Austria	FFG	400.000€	200.000 €
Belgium	BELSPO	400.000 €*	- (~200.000 €)
Belgium	FRS-FNRS	200.000€	200.000 €
France	ANR	1.000.000€	200.000 €
Germany	DLR	4.000.000€	-
Ireland	EPA	450.000€	225.000€
Norway	RCN	1.600.000€	450.000 € / 500.000 €
Sweden	FORMAS	1.200.000€	300.000 € / 500.000 €
Spain	MINECO/AEI	400.000€	111.000 € - 210.000 €
The Netherlands	NWO	975.000€	250.000€

* To be confirmed.

** For more details please consult the National Annexes.

8. Information and Contacts

Applicants are advised to carefully read the National Annexes and to contact their National/Agency Contact Points (see National Annexes). For general questions or questions related to the proposal submission please contact the AXIS Call Secretariat.

AXIS Call Secretariat

Institution:

German Aerospace Center, Project Management Agency Department of European and International Cooperation (DLR) Heinrich-Konen-Str. 1 53227 Bonn, Germany

Contact person: Cornelia Parisius Phone: +49 228 3821 1422 E-mail: <u>cornelia.parisius@dlr.de</u>

In case of changes to this Call for Proposal **up-to-date information** on the AXIS Joint Call will be provided on the AXIS website:

www.jpi-climate.eu/AXIS



9. Annexes

AXIS – Joint Call for Proposals

National Annexes (incl. National Contact Points)

Pre-Registration Form

Pre-Registration Form Instructions

Full Proposal Form

(preliminary, for orientation during pre-registration phase only)

Full Proposal Form Instructions

(will be made available after closure of the pre-registration phase)